MASTER AGREEMENT

between the

Dansville Schools Board of Education

and the

Dansville Education Support Professionals Association

July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2027

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 AGREEMENT	2
ARTICLE 2 PURPOSE	2
ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 4 EXTENT OF AGREEMENT	3
ARTICLE 5 ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	3
ARTICLE 6 BOARD OF EDUCATION MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 7 BARGAINING UNIT MEMBER RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS	6
ARTICLE 8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	10
ARTICLE 9 SCHOOL CLOSURE/DISMISSAL	14
ARTICLE 10 NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE	15
ARTICLE 11 WORK YEAR, WORK WEEK, WORK DAY	15
article 12 general working conditions	18
ARTICLE 13 CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	19
ARTICLE 14 SENIORITY	20
ARTICLE 15 VACANCIES, TRANSFERS, INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS, AND PROMOTIONS	21
ARTICLE 16 REDUCTION IN PERSONNEL/LAYOFF, REDUCTION OF HOURS, AND RECALL	24
ARTICLE 17 SICK LEAVE	25
ARTICLE 18 OTHER PAID LEAVES	28
ARTICLE 19 UNPAID LEAVES	28
ARTICLE 20 HOLIDAYS	30
article 21 bargaining unit member evaluations	30
ARTICLE 22 JOB DESCRIPTIONS	31
ARTICLE 23 DURATION OF AGREEMENT	32
APPENDIX A	33
APPENDIX B	35
APPENDIX C	38

ARTICLE 1 AGREEMENT

This Agreement entered into this July 1, 2025, by and between the Dansville Educational Support Professionals Association-MEA/NEA, hereinafter called the "Association" and the Dansville Schools Board of Education, hereinafter called the "Employer."

ARTICLE 2 PURPOSE

2.1 Agreement

This Agreement is negotiated pursuant to the Public Employment Relations Act, Act. No. 336 of the Public Acts of 1947 as amended, to establish the wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment for the members of the bargaining unit herein defined.

2.2 Dispute Resolution

The Employer and the Association recognize the importance of orderly and peaceful labor relations for the mutual interest and benefit of the Employer, bargaining unit members, and the Association. The Employer and the Association further recognize the mutual benefits of just and expeditious resolution of disputes which may arise as to proper interpretation and implementation of this Agreement and, accordingly, have included herein a grievance procedure for the effective processing and resolution of such disputes.

ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION

3.1 Bargaining Unit Defined

The Dansville School Board of Education hereby recognizes the Dansville Educational Support Professionals Association-MEA/NEA as the sole and exclusive bargaining representative for the purpose of and as defined in the Public Employment Relations Act, as amended, for all full-time and regularly scheduled part-time, probationary and non-probationary Coordinators, Paraprofessionals, and GSRP Associate Teachers of Dansville Schools. Excluded are supervisors, substitutes and casual and temporary employees, and all other employees.

3.2 Employees

Unless otherwise indicated, use of the term "employee" or "bargaining unit member" when used hereinafter in this Agreement shall refer to all members of the above defined bargaining unit. Within the various classifications of bargaining unit members covered herein, there shall be the following categories:

- A. Full-time: A bargaining unit member who is employed at least thirty (30) hours per week.
- B. Part-time: A bargaining unit member who is employed less than thirty (30) hours per week.
- C. **Probationary:** A bargaining unit member who is newly hired to fill a full-time or part-time position for a probationary period for ninety (90) workdays.
- D. **Substitute:** A person who is employed to fill a full-time or part-time position on a per diem basis while the regular bargaining unit member is absent or on approved leave. Such members shall not be members of the bargaining unit by virtue of such service.

- E. **School-year employee:** A bargaining unit member employed to work at least one school year and whose employment follows the school calendar.
- F. Full-year employee: A bargaining unit member who is employed to work on a twelve (12) month basis.

ARTICLE 4 EXTENT OF AGREEMENT

4.1 Severability

This Agreement shall constitute a binding obligation of both the Employer and the Association and for the duration hereof may be altered, changed, added to, deleted from, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of these parties in written and signed amendment to this Agreement. Should any provision of this Agreement be found contrary to law, the parties shall meet within ten (10) workdays to renegotiate the provision. However, the balance of the Agreement shall remain in effect for the duration of the Agreement.

4.2 Individual Agreements

The individual contract between the Employer and an individual bargaining unit member shall be subject to and consistent with the terms and conditions of this agreement. No individual agreements shall be executed between the Employer and an employee unless such agreements have been bargained between the Board and the Association.

ARTICLE 5 ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

5.1 Information

The Employer agrees to furnish the Association in response to the reasonable requests for information of record concerning the financial resources of the District; the names, addresses, seniority, wage experience credit, anniversary dates of all bargaining unit members and compensation paid to them; budgets approved by the Board, agendas and open session minutes of or to all Employer Board meetings; and census and membership data.

5.2 Use of Facilities and Equipment

The Association and its representatives may conduct Association business on the Employer's property or use the Employer's equipment at times which do not interfere with or interrupt normal operations or the employees' duty time, with prior written approval of the superintendent or designated building administrator. The Association shall pay for the reasonable cost of all materials and supplies incident to such use. Employees may have access only to computers which they have been designated to use for union purposes.

5.3 Mail

The Association may post notices of activities and matters of Association concern on bulletin boards designated by the administration in each building or facility to which employees may be assigned. The Association shall have use of the internal delivery system of the Employer, without cost, and the Employer shall designate a place for the receipt of mail for all employees.

5.4 Association Leave

The Association shall have sixteen (16) hours annually of Association leave time to be used in no less than one (1) hour increments. The Association will reimburse the district for the cost of the substitute, if a substitute is hired to cover such leave time. The Association shall access this time by written notice to the employer by the Association President and approval of the employee's immediate supervisor.

5.5 Special Conferences

Special conferences for important matters of mutual concern may be arranged upon mutual agreement of the parties. Such conferences shall be scheduled within ten (10) calendar days of such request.

5.6 Competing Organizations

The rights granted herein to the Association shall not be granted or extended to any competing labor organization. Provided, however, any grievance predicated on such claims for which there is a constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action and/or remedy available under state or federal law shall not be eligible to appeal to arbitration (regardless of whether or not such alternative cause of action has actually been initiated by the grievant(s)). Nor shall incorporation of these statutory rights in this Agreement be grounds for a cause of action in state or federal court for breach of contract. Provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to preclude the Association or an individual bargaining unit member from pursuing, independently of this Agreement, a judicial and/or administrative claim under the appropriate state or federal law (s). Provided further, nothing in this paragraph shall limit the Association from arbitrating, in accordance with Article 8, a grievance based solely on this Agreement for which no parallel constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action exists.

5.7 Association Meetings

The Association shall have the right to schedule a membership meeting prior to the first workday of the school year. The Association shall have the right to schedule additional membership meetings during the school year, before or after the regular workday.

ARTICLE 6 BOARD OF EDUCATION MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

6.1 Reservation of Management Rights

It is expressly agreed that all rights which ordinarily vest in and have been exercised by the Board, except those which are clearly and expressly relinquished herein by the Board, shall continue to vest exclusively in and be exercised exclusively by the Board without prior negotiations with the Association either as to the taking of action under such rights or with respect to the consequences of such action during the term of this agreement. Such rights shall include, by way of limitation, the right to:

- A. Executive management and administrative control of the school system and its properties, facilities, and equipment.
- B. Direct the working forces, and to hire all employees and, subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications (including physical capacities), and the conditions for their continued employment, or their dismissal, discipline, demotion, and/or other personnel action; and to evaluate, assign, promote, lay off, and transfer all such employees in accordance with such policies as the Board may from time to time promulgate.

- C. Determine class schedules, the hours of instruction, and the duties, responsibilities, and assignments of employees with respect thereto, and to determine their terms and conditions of employment of all employees, and to make any and all such changes in terms and conditions of employment and/or in assignments as the Board may from time to time deem necessary and appropriate.
- D. Dictate the assignment and direction of the work force to all of its personnel, determine the number of shifts and hours of work and starting times and scheduling of all of the foregoing and the right to establish, modify, or change any work or business hours or days whenever the Board shall determine such action to be necessary and appropriate.
- E. Determine the number and location or relocation of its facilities, including the establishment or relocations or new schools, buildings, departments, programs, services, divisions or subdivisions, or other facilities, and to determine and/or change the assignment of employees to the facility or location deemed most appropriate by the Board.
- F. Adopt reasonable rules and regulations.
- G. Establish policies governing the selection, evaluation, testing, or training of employees, provided that such selection shall be based on lawful criteria.

6.2 Exercise of Management Rights

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties, and responsibilities of the Board, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations, and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited by only the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such specific and express terms thereof are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan and the Constitution and laws of the United States. Nothing contained herein shall be considered to deny or restrict the Board of its rights, responsibilities, and authority under the Michigan General School laws or any other national, state, county, district, or local laws or regulations as they pertain to education.

6.3 Rules and Policies

The Association recognizes that the employer has the responsibility and authority to adopt reasonable rules or policies, to manage and direct, on behalf of the public, operations and activities of the Dansville Schools Board of Education to the extent authorized by the laws and the constitution of the State of Michigan and of the United States, provided that such rights and responsibilities shall be exercised by the Employer in conformity with the provisions of this Agreement.

6.4 Laws

The Employer agrees to enforce, as they pertain to Dansville Schools, the laws of the State of Michigan, with specific attention being given to the Michigan School Code and regulations promulgated by the Michigan State Board of Education, as well as all Federal laws. The employer shall not direct or require a bargaining unit member to violate any Federal law, State law, and/or State or Federal regulation. Provided, however, any grievance predicated on such claims for which there is a constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action and/or remedy available under state or federal law shall not be eligible to appeal to arbitration (regardless of whether or not such alternative cause of action has actually been initiated by the grievant(s)). Nor shall incorporation of these statutory rights in this Agreement be grounds or a cause of action in state or federal court for breach of contract. Provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to preclude the Association or an individual bargaining unit member from pursuing, independently of this Agreement, a judicial and/or administrative claim under the appropriate state or federal law(s). Provided further, nothing in this paragraph shall limit the Association from arbitrating, in accordance with Article 8, a

grievance based solely on this Agreement for which no parallel constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action exists.

6.5 Limitations on Management Rights

The Employer recognizes that this Agreement sets forth certain specific and explicit limitations on the above-named powers, rights, authorities, duties, and responsibilities, and hereby agrees to be bound by such limitations, but only to the extent mandated by the specific and explicit language of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 7 BARGAINING UNIT MEMBER RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS

7.1 Individual Rights

Nothing contained within this agreement shall be construed to deny or restrict to any bargaining unit member rights they may have under the Michigan Public Employment Relations Act, Michigan General School Laws or other applicable State or Federal laws or regulations. The rights granted to bargaining unit members hereunder shall be deemed to be in addition to those provided elsewhere. Provided, however, any grievance predicated on such claims for which there is a constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action and/or remedy available under state or federal law shall not be eligible to appeal to arbitration (regardless of whether or not such alternative cause of action has actually been initiated by the grievant(s)). Nor shall incorporation of these statutory rights in this Agreement be grounds for a cause of action in state or federal court for breach of contract. Provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to preclude the Association or an individual bargaining unit member from pursuing, independently of this Agreement, a judicial and/or administrative claim under the appropriate state or federal law(s). Provided further, nothing in this paragraph shall limit the Association from arbitrating, in accordance, with Article 8, a grievance based solely on this Agreement for which no parallel constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action exists.

7.2 Personal Life

The bargaining unit members shall be entitled to full rights of citizenship and no religious or political activities of any bargaining unit member or lack thereof shall be grounds for any discipline or discrimination with respect to the employment of such bargaining unit member. The private and personal life of any bargaining unit member is not within the appropriate concern or attention of the Employer, unless such actions affect the employee's ability to perform their duties or adversely impact programs or operations of the District.

7.3 Non-discrimination

The Employer agrees that it will in no way discriminate against or between bargaining unit members covered by this Agreement because of their race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, genetic information, age, sex (including sexual orientation and gender identity), marital or family status, military status, height, weight, disability, or any other legally-protected category. Provided, however, any grievance predicated on such claims for which there is a constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action and/or remedy available under state or federal law shall not be eligible to appeal to arbitration (regardless of whether or not such alternative cause of action has actually been initiated by the grievant(s)). Nor shall incorporation of these statutory rights in this Agreement be grounds for a cause of action in state or federal court for breach of contract. Provided, however, that nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to preclude the Association or an individual bargaining unit member from pursuing, independently of this Agreement, a judicial and/or administrative claim under the appropriate state or federal law(s). Provided further, nothing in this paragraph shall limit the Association from arbitrating, in accordance with Article 8, a grievance based solely on this Agreement for which no parallel constitutional, statutory, common law or administrative cause of action exists.

7.4 Discipline and Discharge

- A. The Board subscribes to a policy that all employees should be treated in a fair and equitable manner. No bargaining unit member shall be disciplined without due process (as defined in Article 7.5) and just cause. The term "discipline" as used in this Agreement includes oral warnings (which may be reduced to writing); reprimands; suspensions with or without pay; and discharges. Discipline shall follow a progressive system of discipline, provided, however, that for serious infractions more serious disciplinary sanctions, up to and including discharge, may be imposed without prior imposition of more moderate disciplinary measures. The specific grounds for disciplinary action will be presented in writing to the bargaining unit member and the Association no later than at the time discipline is imposed. After one (1) year, the employee may request oral warnings be expunged from their personnel file. The Supervisor will review such requests and request will be granted or denied.
- B. Causes which shall be deemed sufficient for disciplinary action including suspension, demotion, dismissal, include by way of example, but are not limited to, the following:
 - 1. Unauthorized or excessive absence from work in excess of contractual leave limits without medical verification.
 - 2. Conviction of any misdemeanor or felony act.
 - 3. Inappropriate or immoral conduct involving students.
 - 4. Inability to perform essential job functions.
 - 5. Documented incompetency or repeated inefficiency.
 - 6. Insubordination, including violation of any lawful directive or order (either oral or written) made by a supervisor, or by the Board, or by any appropriate federal or state agency.
 - 7. Bringing intoxicants into or consuming intoxicants on any school property or while on duty for the District or reporting for work under the influence of intoxicants of any kind in any degree.
 - 8. Willful neglect of duty.
 - 9. Negligent or willful conduct, which results in either damage to public school property, excessive waste or misappropriation of public school supplies or equipment.
 - 10. Violation of any provision of this Agreement which establishes an obligation on or required course of conduct by a bargaining unit member.
 - 11. Deliberate falsification of any records or reports.

7.5 Due Process Procedure

The District shall apply its rules, its orders and penalties in an impartial and equitable manner. The Board agrees that bargaining unit members shall not be disciplined without due process. "Due process" shall be defined as the following:

- A. Employees shall be forewarned of possible and/or probable disciplinary action. An employee shall be given reasonable prior notice of any performance deficiency. "Notice" is defined as verbal for minor incidents or written for serious incidents.
- B. All investigations regarding employee conduct shall be conducted fairly and objectively, and with the employee's knowledge unless such knowledge is being withheld to protect the integrity of an on-going confidential investigation.
- C. An employee shall have the right to respond to the evidence against them and present evidence in defense of the charges.
- D. Warnings and reprimands related to an employee's performance or assigned duties shall be discussed privately between the employee and the supervisor, except when either party requests the presence of an Association Representative. Provided, however, that the Administration may in its discretion disclose the nature of a disciplinary sanction to the person(s) who made the complaint which was the basis of the discipline imposed, if a record of such discipline has been placed in the employee's personnel file. The extent of the disclosure shall also be made known to the employee.
- E. Employees may submit in written statement of objection to imposition of any of the above disciplinary sanctions, in accordance with the provisions of Article 7.7 of this Agreement.
- F. The Board of Education shall have the right to affirm, rescind, or either increase or reduce the disciplinary sanction imposed by the Administration.

7.6 Written Discipline

Written warnings or reprimands or suspensions will be given in the form of a formal letter with the full signature of the administrator taking the action. The letter will be delivered only after a meeting has been held at which time the bargaining unit member had an opportunity to be heard. A copy of a written warning or reprimand or suspension shall be given to the bargaining unit member and the Association. Any complaint not called to the attention of the bargaining unit member, within ten (10) work days, may not be used in any disciplinary action against the bargaining unit member, unless such complaint is being withheld to protect the integrity of an on-going confidential investigation.

If any written discipline is found in a bargaining unit member's file that has been placed there without their knowledge, then a hearing shall be held before the Board's Personnel Committee and their immediate supervisor. If the Personnel Committee finds the written discipline warranted, then the employee shall have the right to respond in writing and the employee's response shall be attached to the written discipline. If the Personnel Committee finds the written discipline to be unwarranted, then it shall be removed from the personnel file.

7.7 Response to Discipline

Any bargaining unit member who wishes to take exception to a written disciplinary action must respond in writing within twenty (20) calendar days and shall present a copy of the letter to their appropriate administrator. The response shall only address the merits of the written discipline. Such response shall be placed in the bargaining unit member's personnel file, together with a copy of the written disciplinary action issued by the administration and/or Board. A bargaining unit member who files an exception shall not be precluded from also seeking relief through the grievance procedure or other remedy.

7.8 Representation

A bargaining unit member shall be entitled to have present, a representative of the Association during any meeting which will or can reasonably be expected, based on management's knowledge, to likely lead to disciplinary action by the Employer. Should disciplinary action be likely to occur at a given meeting, the bargaining unit member shall be advised immediately of said possibility and shall be advised by the Employer of the employee's right to representation. When a request for such representation is made, no action shall be taken with respect to the bargaining unit member until such representative of the Association is present. Provided, however, that the Administration may temporarily remove such employee(s) from duty until the union representative is available, if such removal is deemed necessary for security, safety or other legitimate reason; and provided further that the Association shall ensure that a representative is available for a meeting with the Administration and the employee not later than one (1) working day after the initial request for representation.

7.9 Personnel Files

- A. A bargaining unit member will have the right to review the contents of all records of the Employer pertaining to said bargaining unit member originating after initial employment; except privileged information, including attorney-client communication and student records; and to have a representative of the Association accompany them in such review. Other examinations of a bargaining unit member's file shall be limited to qualified supervisory personnel, except that a non-bargaining unit member Association representative may review such files when necessary for contract administration purposes or to provide the bargaining unit member representation in other administrative or legal proceedings. Each file shall contain a record indicating who has reviewed it, the date reviewed, and the reason for such review.
- B. No material including, but not limited to, student, parental, or school personnel complaints originating after initial employment will be placed in a bargaining unit member's personnel file unless the bargaining unit member has had an opportunity to review the material and the complaint has been investigated by the Employer. If the complaint is found to be without merit, the Administrator shall state so in writing.
- C. Complaints against the bargaining unit member shall be put in writing with the names of the complainants, administrative action taken, and remedy clearly stated. The bargaining unit member may submit a written notation or reply regarding any material, including complaints, and the same shall be attached to the file copy of the material in question. When material is to be placed in a bargaining unit member's file, the affected bargaining unit member shall review and sign said material, such signature shall be understood to indicate awareness of the material. In no instance shall said signature be interpreted to mean agreement with the content of the material. If the bargaining unit member believes the material to be placed in the file is inappropriate or in error, and the member's assertion is substantiated by the administration, the material will be corrected and/or expunged from the file, whichever is deemed to be appropriate by the Superintendent.

7.10 Adverse Material

A bargaining unit member may request adverse material be removed from their file, provided it does not violate Section 1230b of the School Code. The granting of such request shall be in the sole discretion of the employer. It is agreed that in the event the District receives a request from a third party (other than the union or the bargaining unit member) for a member's personnel records which are more than four (4) years old, the Administration shall consult with the Association designated representative to review the current interpretation of relevant statutory provisions by the courts of Michigan before disclosing any such records.

7.11 Assault

Any case of assault upon a bargaining unit member and/or a bargaining unit member's property shall be promptly reported to the Employer. The Employer shall provide assistance to the bargaining unit member, when possible, under the circumstances, to prevent injury and loss of property. If the Board determines that the bargaining unit member acted appropriately, the District (1) will provide legal counsel as it deems necessary to handle the incident, and/or (2) reimburse the bargaining unit member up to five hundred dollars (\$500) during the course of one (1) calendar year for damages to or destruction or loss of the bargaining unit member's vehicle, clothing and/or watches and/or jewelry, (provided such damage, destruction or loss occurred on school premises and was not occasioned by the negligence of the bargaining unit member).

7.12 Special Education Complaints

A bargaining unit member will not be disciplined for participating in special education complaint procedures as provided for in State and Federal statutes, provided they accurately represents to the best of their ability the District's educational directives, policies, and practices.

7.13 Accommodation

The Employer will consider and discuss reasonable accommodation to the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise qualified handicapped individual.

- A. The Employer will provide notice to the Association of any potential need for accommodation and seek Association input on proposed accommodations.
- B. The parties will look to the factors set forth in the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act to determine whether the accommodation is reasonable and not an undue hardship.

ARTICLE 8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

8.1 Definition

A claim and/or a complaint by a bargaining unit member or a group of bargaining unit members or the Association that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any express provision of this Agreement affecting bargaining unit members may be processed as a grievance as hereinafter provided.

8.2 Hearing Levels

A. **Informal Level:** When a bargaining unit member(s) or the Association believe(s) a grievable incident has occurred, the affected bargaining unit member(s) or the Association shall request in writing a meeting with the immediate supervisor, within ten (10) work days of the incident, in an effort to resolve the complaint. The Association shall be notified and in representative thereof present with the bargaining unit member at such meeting. If the bargaining unit member is not satisfied with the result(s) of the meeting, they may appeal the complaint to Formal Level 1.

- B. **Formal Level 1:** If a complaint is not resolved in a conference between the affected bargaining unit member(s) and their immediate supervisor, the complaint may be appealed in writing within ten (10) working days of the meeting between the supervisor and the affected bargaining unit member(s). A copy of the grievance shall be sent to the Association and the immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall, within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance, render a written decision. A copy of this decision shall be forwarded to the grievant(s) and the Association.
- C. **Formal Level 2:** If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 1 or if no written decision has been made within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance, the grievance may, at the Association's discretion, be transmitted to the Superintendent or their designee. Within ten (10) working days after the grievance has been so submitted, the Superintendent or their designee shall meet with the Association on the grievance. The Superintendent or their designee shall, within ten (10) working days after the conclusion of the meeting, render a written decision thereon with copies to the Association and the grievant(s).
- D. **Formal Level 3:** If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 2 or if no written decision has been made within ten (10) working days after the conclusion of the Level 2 grievance meeting, the Association may transmit the grievance to the officer of the Board, who is in charge of drawing up the Board meeting agenda, not less than ten (10) working days prior to the next regularly scheduled Board meeting. Within one (1) month of the submission of the grievance to the Board, a grievance hearing shall be held. Within one (1) month of the hearing of the grievance, the Board shall render its decision in writing with copies to the Association and the grievant(s). The Board may hold future hearings therein, may designate one (1) or more of its members to hold future hearings therein, or otherwise investigate the grievance. However, in no event, except with express written consent of the Association, shall final determination of the grievance be made by the Board more than one (1) month after the initial hearing.
- E. **Formal Level 4**: If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 3 or if no disposition has been made within the period provided above, the Association may submit the grievance to binding arbitration not more than fifteen (15) working days after receipt of a written copy of the Board's Level 3 disposition, (which shall be defined as placement of the written copy of said disposition in the Association President's designated school mailbox for internal school communications). The Demand for Arbitration shall include a copy of the grievance, and shall identify which, if any, of the aspects of the grievance are not intended to be appealed to arbitration. The Demand for Arbitration shall also include specific statements of the reasons why the Association believes that the rationale articulated in the Board's written disposition (as to each contract violation allegation in the grievance for which the Board has articulated a rationale for denial) is not correct or proper. Failure to timely file a demand for arbitration shall constitute a complete and permanent bar to arbitration or other appeal of the Board's disposition and shall render the Level 3 disposition final and binding. The date of filing shall be defined as the date of the U.S. Postal service postmark on the envelope in which the notice of appeal is mailed.
 - 1. The arbitration proceedings, including the selection of the Arbitrator, shall be conducted pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association, except to the extent those rules may be contradicted by any provision of this Agreement, in which case this Agreement shall take precedence. Provided, however, that the parties reserve the right to waive or amend any of said rules by mutual agreement of the parties in writing.
 - 2. During arbitration proceedings, neither party shall be permitted to neither assert any ground nor rely on any evidence not previously raised in writing at least two weeks prior to the arbitration hearing. Provided, however, any ground or evidence first discovered through the course of the opposing parties' testimony during the arbitration hearing may become part of the arbitration proceedings.

- 3. No individual shall have the right to appeal a grievance to arbitration without the express written authorization of the Association.
- 4. The following are excluded from Level 4 (Arbitration) and the Level 3 Board disposition shall be final and binding as to any grievance with regard to any of the following:
 - a. The termination of any probationary employee, or failure to re-employ any probationary employee during their initial ninety (90) working days.
 - b. Any matter for which the basis of grievance is not in the express terms of this Agreement.
 - c. Reassignment of an employee to their former position during or upon completion of the "trial period" under Article 15.6.
 - d. Any and all allegations of violation of an employee's rights created by or through federal or state constitutions, federal or state laws, and/or rules, regulations or other provisions promulgated, administered or enforced by any federal or state administrative agency. Provided, however, it is understood and agreed that the Association and/or the employee may assert alleged violations of such rights in any grievance as an alternative ground for relief, but that if such claims are rejected by the Board, the exclusive remedy for such claims shall be the statutory procedures available at law for such claims under the applicable state or federal statutes.
 - e. The substantive content of any performance evaluation.
- 5. The powers of the Arbitrator are subject to the following conditions:
 - a. They shall have no power to add to, subtract from, disregard, alter or modify any of the terms of this Agreement.
 - b. They shall have no power to decide any question which, under this Agreement, is within the responsibility of the management to decide except concerning procedural matters.
 - c. The Arbitrator may not consider more than one grievance at the same time except upon expressed written mutual consent of the parties.
 - d. Where no monetary loss has been caused by action of the board, the Board shall be under no obligation to make monetary adjustments and the Arbitrator shall have no power to order one.
 - e. Arbitration awards or grievance settlements will not be made retroactive beyond the date of the occurrence or non-occurrence of the event upon which the grievance is based.
- 6. The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared at the rate of fifty percent (50%) for the Board. All other expenses shall be borne by the party incurring them, and neither party shall be responsible for the expense of witnesses called by the other.

8.3 Alternative Selection Process

If the parties agree on an arbitrator outside of the American Arbitration Association (AAA) process, the hearing and the award shall be governed in accordance with AAA rules.

8.4 Miscellaneous Conditions

- A. The time limits provided in this Article shall be strictly observed but may be extended by written agreement of the parties. In the event a grievance is filed after May 15th of any year and strict adherence to the time limits may result in hardship to any party, the Board shall use its best efforts to process such grievance prior to the end of the school term or as soon thereafter as possible.
- B. Notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement, any claim or grievance arising hereunder with regard to an action or event occurring prior to said expiration may be processed through the grievance procedure until resolution. Actions or events occurring after expiration of this Agreement may be the basis of a grievance under this Article or this Agreement; but may not be appealed to arbitration.
- C. Written grievances shall comply with the following requirements at all levels of the grievance procedure.
 - 1. It shall identify any allegedly aggrieved individual employee(s) and shall be signed by the authorized Association Representative.
 - 2. It shall be specific.
 - 3. It shall contain a synopsis of the facts giving rise to the alleged violation.
 - 4. It shall cite all sections or subsections of this Contract alleged to have been violated and shall explicitly state how the grieved action allegedly violates such provisions.
 - 5. It shall contain the date of the alleged violation.
 - 6. It shall specify the relief requested.
 - 7. Any written grievance not substantially in accordance with the above requirements may be rejected as improper. Such a rejection shall not extend the time limitation for filing appeals set forth herein.
- D. All the time limits described in this Article shall be computed in terms of "workdays" which shall be defined as days when the school district administrative offices are open and regularly scheduled for business. Provided, however, days when student instruction is cancelled due to inclement weather or days that are part of a scheduled break during the district's school year shall not be counted as "workdays." The term "within" shall not include the day of the meeting or the event.
- E. A bargaining unit member whose testimony is reasonably required in a grievance hearing during the workday shall be excused with pay for that purpose (for the duration of time in which they are testifying). The unit member shall return to duty when their required testimony is completed. The Grievant and the Association President (or their designee) shall be excused from duty with pay for the duration of the hearing if the hearing occurred during regular work hours.

- F. All notices to be sent to "The Association" or decisions to be made by "The Association" shall be sent to and communicated by the Association President.
- G. Grievances filed as Association Grievances may, at the option of the Association, be initiated at Formal Level 2 of the grievance procedure.
- H. If any bargaining unit member, for whom a grievance is sustained, shall be found to have been unjustly discharged, they shall be reinstated upon such terms (up to and including reinstatement with back pay) as the Arbitrator may deem just and appropriate under the circumstances. If any bargaining unit member shall have been found to have been improperly deprived of any compensation in violation of the express terms of this Agreement, the same or its equivalent in money shall be paid to them and their record cleared of any reference to this action depending on the decision of the Arbitrator.
- 1. For the purpose of assisting a bargaining unit member or the Association in the prosecution or defense of any contractual, administrative, or legal proceeding, including but not limited to grievances, the Employer shall permit an Association Representative access to and the right to inspect and acquire copies of personnel files and any other files or records of the Employer which pertain to an affected bargaining unit member or any issue in the proceedings in question. Confidential letters of reference secured from sources out of the school system and privileged information, including attorney-client communication and student records, shall be excluded from inspection.
- J. If the Association violates the time limits specified herein at any level, the grievance shall be considered dropped. If the Employer violates the time limits specified herein, the grievance may be appealed to the next level.

8.5 Expedited Process

The Association and the Employer may mutually agree to process a grievance via the expedited grievance procedure of the American Arbitration Association.

ARTICLE 9 SCHOOL CLOSURE/DISMISSAL

9.1 School Closing

When an act of God, or an Employer directive, forces the closing of school for students, bargaining unit members are not expected to report for duty unless directed by the administration to the contrary. Directives to employees will be communicated through the established administrative notification system.

DESPA employees shall receive their regular pay for days which are canceled but shall work on any rescheduled days with no compensation. However, DESPA members may use a sick or personal business day to avoid no compensation when reporting to work on the rescheduled days.

9.2 School Cancellation After Opening

If school is canceled after employees have reported for work or after students have reported, employees may be dismissed at the discretion of the Superintendent immediately after such cancellation. However, the hourly employees shall be paid for actual hours worked or three (3) hours, whichever is greater.

ARTICLE 10 NEGOTIATIONS PROCEDURE

10.1 Unforeseen Matters

It is contemplated that the terms and conditions of employment provided in this Agreement shall remain in effect until altered by mutual consent in writing between the parties. Nevertheless, because of the special nature of the public educational process, it is likewise recognized that matters previously unforeseen or not negotiated may be negotiated through mutual agreement of the parties or as permitted under the PERA, provided that any claim regarding the violation of this obligation must be processed exclusively as an unfair labor practice before the Michigan Employment Relations commission. It is in the public interest that the opportunity for mutual discussion of such matters is provided.

10.2 Contract Maintenance

Representatives of the Employer and the Association may, upon mutual agreement, meet on the last workday of each month for the purpose of reviewing the administration of the contract and to resolve problems that may arise. These meetings are not intended to bypass the grievance procedure. Each party will submit to the other, on or before the Friday prior to the meeting, an agenda covering what they wish to discuss. Should such a meeting result in a mutually acceptable amendment to the Agreement, then the amendment shall be subject to ratification by the employer and the Association. However, the parties shall be able to effect temporary accommodations to resolve special problems not requiring alteration of previously ratified agreements.

10.3 Negotiations

Neither party in any negotiations shall have any control over the selection of the negotiation or bargaining representatives of the other party. The parties mutually pledge that their representatives will be clothed with all necessary power and authority to make proposals, consider proposals, and make concessions in the course of negotiations.

10.4 Agreement

There shall be two (2) signed copies of any final agreement. One (1) copy shall be retained by the Employer and one by the Association. Copies of this Agreement shall be printed at the expense of the Employer, within sixty (60) days after the Agreement is signed and presented to all bargaining unit members now employed or hereafter employed by the Employer. In addition, the Employer shall provide the Association with ten (10) copies of the Agreement without charge to the Association. All school district personnel policies or any changes in said policies shall be posted for all bargaining unit members within thirty (30) days after the Board's adoption.

ARTICLE 11 WORK YEAR, WORK WEEK, WORKDAY

11.1 Work Year

The normal work year for all bargaining unit members shall be the student calendar plus one (1) additional day for professional development scheduled prior to the start of the student school year.

All Library Coordinators and Office Paraprofessionals shall also work five (5) workdays following the end of the student school year.

11.2 Work Week

The normal work week and schedule for all bargaining unit members shall be established by the Board, based upon the Board's determination of the needs and resources of the district, and may be changed from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by the Board in its sole discretion.

11.3 Workday

The normal work day and schedule for all bargaining unit members shall be established by the Board, based upon the board's determination of the needs and resources of the district, and may be changed from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by the Board in its sole discretion.

In the event the Board determines a change is necessary in the normal workday, it shall seek and consider input from the Association prior to implementing any alteration in the workday.

11.4 Notification of Schedule Changes

The Association recognizes that student needs are paramount in the Board's determination of the optimum yearly, weekly and daily schedule(s) for provision of auxiliary services by bargaining unit members. The Board and Administration recognize the legitimate desire of employees to be informed in advance about impending changes in work schedules, and the Board agrees to provide two (2) calendar weeks advance notice of schedule changes to all affected employees whenever practical.

The district will not guarantee extra hours for any paraprofessional if pulled for other duties. All additional hours must be approved in advance by the supervising administrator

11.5 Alteration

If an employee reports for work and is sent home due to unforeseen circumstances, the employee shall receive a minimum of three hours of their pay or their pay for all hours worked, whichever is greater.

If a bargaining unit member reports to work and the special education student to whom s/he is assigned is absent or their regular job assignment has been changed or eliminated, the bargaining unit member shall report to the direct supervisor for re-assignment. Regularly scheduled bargaining unit members shall be used for substitute work or for any other job that is needed in the district for that day. At the discretion of the building principal, bargaining unit members may be assigned as a classroom aide if there are not any other assignments needing to be filled.

11.6 Duty Free Lunch

All bargaining unit members working five or more hours shall receive a one-half (1/2) hour uninterrupted, duty-free unpaid lunch period which shall be scheduled approximately mid-shift. If the bargaining unit member's scheduled lunch is interrupted and the member is required to perform work-related duties, they shall receive compensatory time at the end of the day for all time worked.

11.7 Professional Development

Each school year, the Employer shall schedule at least one (1) mandatory day of professional development for all bargaining unit members to address issues including but not limited to the following: General medical procedure training, improving, or acquiring skills that will serve to increase student achievement, supporting the District's School Improvement

goals, and supporting students with behavioral needs. CPI training shall be scheduled as needed to ensure all employees are up to date in their certification. Bargaining unit members shall be informed of the dates of the professional development by August 1. Professional development shall be fully paid by the Employer, and each employee shall be given their regular rate of pay for the hours of the professional development.

Additionally, the Employer may schedule other mandatory professional development for any classification, up to and including all bargaining unit members. Such professional development may be held in conjunction with professional development scheduled for the instructional staff. Bargaining unit members shall be compensated as stated in the preceding paragraph.

11.8 Required Training

The Board agrees to pay the cost of any training or classes taken by a bargaining unit member for the benefit of the District that are necessary in order to staff bargaining unit positions with current employees. The request to take this training or class shall come from the Superintendent. The cost of the class or training is defined as necessary materials, tuition and fees.

11.9 Mentoring Program

Every new DESPA employee will be assigned a mentor for his or her first year of employment. Any bargaining unit member assigned as a mentor shall be an active bargaining member who has been employed for 5 years or more. They must be engaged in work areas that have similar responsibilities. Mentors will receive a \$200.00 stipend for the school year. It is the expectation that the mentor and mentee will meet for no fewer than 10 hours. Documentation of dates, times, and topics of meetings must be presented to the administration in order to receive the stipend. Topics to be covered by mentors to be determined collaboratively with union representatives and administration. Should a conflict arise between mentor and mentee, either party may notify the administrator and a new mentor will be assigned by the administration.

11.10 Breaks

Each employee scheduled for six (6) or more hours of work per day shall be granted two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid break periods, one scheduled approximately at the midpoint of the first half of the shift, and the second scheduled approximately at the midpoint of the second half of the shift. The specific scheduling of the break periods shall be done with approval of the supervisor. The employee may take the break period in a location(s) approved by the employee's supervisor. Employees working overtime will be entitled to an additional 15-minute relief time for every three (3) hours worked after their last scheduled break.

11.11 Substitutes

A. Non-Bargaining Unit Substitutes

The employer may provide substitutes as deemed necessary by the employer during the absence of a regular bargaining unit member. A non-bargaining unit member assigned by the Administration to perform the work of an absent bargaining unit member will be paid the regular substitute rate (as established by the Board in its sole discretion).

B. Assignment of Substitute Work

The Employer may choose to offer the opportunity to perform the work of an absent regular bargaining unit member to other bargaining unit members regularly assigned to the building or classification instead of offering the work to a non-bargaining unit substitute.

Bargaining unit members, who are on involuntary layoff, shall be offered the first opportunity to substitute.

The Employer may choose to offer the opportunity to perform the work of a regular bargaining unit member who is on a short-term absence (three (3) days or fewer) to other bargaining unit members regularly assigned to the building or classification instead of offering the work to a non-bargaining unit substitute. Bargaining unit members, who are on involuntary layoff, shall first be offered the opportunity to substitute.

The filling of positions created by absences greater than three days may be subject to the Employer's assessment of the substitute's qualifications for the position and administration reserves the right to go outside the Bargaining Unit. However, the position shall be awarded to the candidate based on seniority and rotation. It shall be the responsibility of the Employer to secure a substitute when an Employee reports an absence.

C. Substitute Rate for Bargaining Unit Members

A regular bargaining unit member assigned by the administration to perform the work of an absent bargaining unit member will be paid the regular rate for those duties (as defined in Appendix A). However, a bargaining unit member's pay rate shall not be reduced as a result of such assignment. Substitutes shall be used to perform bargaining unit work only during the absence of regular bargaining unit members or when an unfilled temporary vacancy exists.

11.12 Cleanup

Bargaining unit members shall be granted time prior to the end of the work shift in which to put away equipment and supplies and for the purpose of work-related cleanup.

ARTICLE 12 GENERAL WORKING CONDITIONS

12.1 Unsafe Work

Bargaining unit members shall not be required to work under unsafe or hazardous conditions, or to perform tasks, that based on the employee's knowledge, would reasonably be expected to endanger their health or safety. Employees will be given proper safety equipment and instruction in regard to the operation of equipment and the handling and disposal of dangerous substances. Employees will be given adequate and appropriate supplies and equipment, in good repair, to perform their assigned duties as determined by the Board.

12.2 Student Discipline

The Employer will work with bargaining unit members with respect to the maintenance of control and discipline of students in the bargaining unit members' assigned work areas. The bargaining unit member may seek assistance from their supervisor with respect to students who are disruptive or who repeatedly violate rules and regulations. The Employer will provide yearly training and written guidance regarding acceptable disciplinary procedures which may be used by employees with students who are verbally defiant toward staff members and others. Bargaining unit members may use such physical force with a student as is necessary to protect themselves or another person from attack, physical abuse or injury, or to prevent damage to district property so far as the law permits.

12.3 Medication

If bargaining unit members are required to dispense or administer medication, or perform medically related procedures, they will be given appropriate training and/or guidelines for performing such responsibilities.

In the case of procedures considered medically related, including but not limited to diabetes testing, insulin injections, and other assigned procedures, training shall include compliance with applicable laws as well as school district policy and protocol. Applicable laws shall include State and County Health Department reporting requirements. Training for medical procedures shall be provided by a qualified medical professional or other appropriately qualified individual, in a setting and time frame appropriate to the degree of difficulty and level of skills required to effectively perform the required medical procedure. In addition to training, complete written directions shall also be provided to any bargaining unit member trained to perform the procedure.

In the event a bargaining unit member feels s/he has not been appropriately trained or that proper procedures are not in place, the bargaining unit member shall report such concern to the immediate supervisor as soon as reasonably possible to address the concerns.

12.4 Supervision

The Administration shall designate a supervisor for each employee, who will be considered the employee's immediate supervisor for the purposes of all such provisions in this Agreement. In the event of a change in the designated supervisor, all affected employees will be promptly notified in writing of the change.

12.5 Equipment

The Employer shall provide to bargaining unit members such equipment and supplies, as the Employer deems necessary and appropriate to perform their assigned work without cost to the bargaining unit member, including the following:

- A. Approved first aid kits and materials in all work areas, latex gloves, appropriate training in the handling of blood, blood products and other bodily products, and Hepatitis B immunization for persons regularly exposed to the handling of blood, blood products and other bodily products.
- B. Reimbursement for the cost of special licenses or the renewal of special licenses required for the bargaining unit member to perform their job or position beyond the cost of any regular license held by the bargaining unit member.

ARTICLE 13 CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

13.1 Paraprofessionals/Library Coordinators

A. Personal Work

Paraprofessionals/Library Coordinators shall not perform personal work for teachers, administrators or others, which is not directly or indirectly related to the operation of the school district.

B. Assignments

Paraprofessionals who have assignments in different locations shall have at least five (5) minutes between assignments to relocate.

C. Special Education Classroom Paraprofessionals

Upon request of the Employer, Special Education Classroom Paraprofessionals shall be allowed to attend meetings that are part of the IEP or pre-IEP process and will be paid at their regular rate of pay.

The District shall make every attempt to rotate Special Education Classroom Paraprofessionals who are assigned to students one-on-one on a yearly basis.

Special Education Classroom Paraprofessionals who are assigned to students one-on-one shall be provided a snapshot IEP for each student.

13.2 Miscellaneous

- A. Any employee working in more than one (1) classification or holding two (2) part-time positions within one (1) classification shall, for the purposes of benefits pay:
 - 1. Be paid at the classification rate for each position worked. Any bargaining unit member, who is regularly assigned to duties in more than one position shall not suffer a loss of hourly rate/wages as a result of this agreement.
 - 2. Be eligible for benefits under Appendix B as though all work was performed in a single job or classification.
- B. If an employee is required to work in a facility alone, provision will be made so that an employee can summon assistance in an emergency or other appropriate circumstance.

ARTICLE 14 SENIORITY

14.1 Seniority Defined

All seniority shall be based on classification seniority. Seniority shall be defined as the length of service within the district as a member of their classification within the bargaining unit, i.e., all classifications represented in the recognition clause of this Agreement. Accumulation of seniority shall begin from the bargaining unit member's first working day which shall in no event be before the first day of school. In the event that more than one individual bargaining unit member has the same starting date of work, position on the seniority list shall be determined by drawing lots on or before the first day of school.

14.2 Probation

Probationary bargaining unit members shall have no seniority until the completion of the probationary period, at which time their seniority shall revert to their first day of work. The probationary period shall be ninety (90) workdays.

14.3 Classifications

There are two (2) different departments recognized in the bargaining unit:

For purposes of this Agreement, all bargaining unit members shall be placed in one of the following positions based on their current assignments:

Paraprofessional/Library Coordinator Positions:

Class 1:

- Elementary Library Coordinator
- Middle School Library Coordinator
- High School Library Coordinator
- Instructional Paraprofessional
- Office Paraprofessional
- Special Education Clerical Paraprofessional
- Great Start Readiness Program (GSRP) Associate Teacher

Class 2:

- Special Education Classroom Paraprofessional
- Regular Classroom Paraprofessional
- Lunchroom Paraprofessional
- Lunchroom/Playground Paraprofessional

The Board accedes to the Association position, of changing the classification of certain employees, with great reluctance, as it is the belief of the Board of Education that the above changes are discriminatory and devalue the services of employees that perform functions that are often difficult and not always in an environment that is pleasant.

14.4 Seniority List

The Employer shall prepare and maintain the seniority list and shall have available the seniority list annually for bargaining unit members. If a bargaining unit member believes there is an error in the seniority list, they must advise their supervisor within thirty (30) calendar days of the posting beginning of school or any such alleged errors are waived. Unresolved disputes regarding proper seniority placement shall be subject to the grievance procedure. A copy of the seniority list and subsequent revisions shall be available to the Association.

14.5 Seniority Lost

Seniority shall be lost by a bargaining unit member upon termination for cause, resignation, retirement, or when recall rights are exhausted. Upon voluntary transfer to a non-bargaining unit position, bargaining unit seniority shall neither accrue nor be lost while the employee is in such a position. Such seniority may not be used to re-enter the bargaining unit during a layoff if it would result in the layoff of a currently employed bargaining unit member. Employees who are involuntarily transferred to a non-bargaining unit position, or who accept a position in a non-bargaining unit position while on layoff from a bargaining unit position, shall continue to accrue seniority in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 15 VACANCIES, TRANSFERS, INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS, AND PROMOTIONS

15.1 Vacancy Defined

A vacancy shall be defined as a newly created position or an unfilled present position that the Board has determined to fill.

15.2 Vacancy Posting

All vacancies shall be posted for a minimum of five (5) workdays and will be shared electronically via email to all members. This posting requirement shall include any vacancies within regular school hours as well as for programs that occur outside of the regular school day (e.g. – summer school, after school, etc.) It is the bargaining unit members' responsibility to check their district email account. Said posting shall contain the following information:

- A. Type of work and classification rate
- B. Location of work
- C. Starting date
- D. Hours to be worked
- E. Minimum requirements as reflected in the job description

15.3 Vacancy Notification

Interested bargaining unit members may apply in writing to the Superintendent, or designee, within the five (5) day posting period. The Employer shall notify bargaining unit members electronically via email of vacancies occurring during the summer months (June, July, August).

15.4 Award of Vacancies

The parties share the common goal of ensuring that all positions are filled by the very best candidates available. All positions will be posted simultaneously both internally and externally. Vacancies shall be filled with the bargaining unit member from within the existing bargaining unit who is the most senior applicant who is qualified for the position, unless an internal or external candidate presents who better meets the qualifications for the position. Provided, however, in the event the Board deems two (2) or more applicants to be equally "best qualified," and if at least one of the equally "best qualified" applicants has accumulated seniority in the classification of the vacant position, then the vacant position shall be awarded to the bargaining unit member with the most seniority in the classification of the vacant position. Qualifications for the position must be based on the job description and may, at the discretion of the Board or Superintendent, also take into account the special needs for the student needing an aide, if applicable. Qualifications for the vacant position shall be clearly articulated on the posting notice. The administration will make the final determination regarding which candidate is best qualified for a position based upon the job description.

The Administration reserves the discretionary right to elect to reject all applicants based on lack of qualifications and re-post the position, provided, however, that this shall not preclude any bargaining unit member from re-applying for the position.

15.5 Trial Period

In the event of promotion in or transfer from one classification to another, the bargaining unit member shall be given a thirty (30) workday trial in which to show their ability to perform on the new job. The Employer shall give the promoted or transferred bargaining unit member reasonable assistance to enable them to meet the Employer's standards of the new job. If the bargaining unit member is unable to demonstrate ability to perform the work required during the trial period or at the option of the affected bargaining unit member, the bargaining unit member shall be returned to their previous assignment. The parties may mutually agree to extend the trial period for another thirty (30) workdays. If the Employer decides to return the bargaining unit member to their previous assignment, the decision will not be subject to the grievance procedure, but may be appealed to the Board, provided that that Board may refer the appeal to a Board committee for a decision.

15.6 Transfer Rights

Bargaining unit members transferring to a new position within the same classification shall retain their years of service and shall suffer no loss in wages, accrued seniority, paid leave, or holiday benefits.

Bargaining unit members transferring to a new position in a different classification shall retain their years of service for salary and longevity purposes and will suffer no loss in accrued paid leave or holiday benefits. The bargaining unit member will be placed at the bottom of the seniority list within the new classification.

15.7 Involuntary Transfers

- A. Involuntary transfers shall be defined as including:
 - a. A re-assignment from one classification to another classification
 - b. A re-assignment to a position with a lower pay rate.
 - C. The parties agree that involuntary transfers of bargaining unit members are to be affected only for reasonable and just cause. Bargaining unit members shall not be placed on a lower step in the wage schedule due to involuntary transfers, nor shall they suffer any loss of accrued seniority, vacation, holiday, or leave benefits. Provided, however, the parties agree that (1) an involuntary transfer for disciplinary reasons may result in an employee being placed on a lower step in the wage schedule and (2) involuntary transfers which are imposed as a disciplinary sanction shall be governed by the provision of Article 8 rather than Article 17.

15.8 Temporary Assumption of Duties

Any bargaining unit member who temporarily assumes the duties of another bargaining unit member will be paid the regular rate for those duties. A bargaining unit member's pay rate shall not be reduced as the result of any temporary change in duties.

15.9 Training after Award of Position

After an applicant has been awarded and accepted a position, the Superintendent may, in his or her discretion, provide professional training to the aide in the form of in-service and/or professional development. Specialized medical training may also be provided to the paraprofessional if the Superintendent deems such necessary for the health and well-being of the student to whom the paraprofessional is assigned.

15.10 Temporary Vacancies

- A. When students enter the district immediately requiring the support of a special education or regular classroom paraprofessional, the District may choose to hire a temporary non-bargaining unit employee to provide the assistance if:
 - a. The student will be observed and tested to determine if the assistance is necessary, or
 - b. The student is in need of assistance but is in a temporary domicile situation.
- B. A temporary non-bargaining unit employee hired under the terms of sections A(1) and A(2) above shall become a non-temporary employee and bargaining unit member as follows:
 - a. As soon as assistance for a student in A(1) is found to be necessary, or
 - b. As soon as a student in A(2) above is in a non-temporary domicile situation, or
 - c. On the ninety-first (91) workday, whichever occurs first.

C. Nothing in the Article shall prohibit the District from hiring a non-temporary bargaining unit member at any time in the position of classroom paraprofessional through the posting procedure outlined in Article 15.2.

ARTICLE 16 REDUCTION IN PERSONNEL/LAYOFF, REDUCTION OF HOURS, AND RECALL

16.1 Layoff Defined

Layoff shall be defined as a necessary reduction in the number of positions or employees in the bargaining unit beyond normal attrition. Note: for purposes of this article, the term "classification" shall be defined in Article 14.3 of this Agreement.

16.2 Layoff Notice

No bargaining unit member shall be laid off pursuant to a necessary reduction in the work force unless said bargaining unit member shall have been notified of said layoff at least ten (10) workdays prior to the effective date of the layoff. Should an emergency situation arise beyond the control of the Employer, the notice of layoff shall be at least one (1) workday prior to the effective date of layoff. An emergency situation for purposes of this section includes employees whose primary responsibilities center on providing services for or to a specific student(s), and such employees may be laid off with at least one workdays' notice in the event that such student(s) ceases attending class for any reason.

16.3 Layoff Procedures

In the event of a necessary reduction in work force positions, the Employer shall first layoff probationary bargaining unit members in the affected classification, then the least senior bargaining unit members in that classification. If a bargaining unit member's position is eliminated, the bargaining unit member may displace the least senior member in that classification with equal or fewer work hours, provided they is qualified for the position. In no case shall the Employer employ a new employee while there are laid-off bargaining unit members who are qualified for a vacant or newly created position.

16.4 Substitute Priority/Benefits

A laid-off bargaining unit member shall, upon submission of a letter of intent to the Superintendent's office and at their option, be granted priority status on the substitute list for their classification according to their seniority and ability to do the substitute work. A bargaining unit member may substitute in other classifications if the employer deems they are qualified to do the substitute work.

Recall

- A. Laid-off bargaining unit members shall be recalled to vacant positions within the classification from which they were laid-off in order of seniority, with the most senior being recalled first to any such position for which they are qualified. A bargaining unit member shall be deemed qualified for the position, provided they have:
 - 1. Substituted in a same or similar position for twenty (20) consecutive days,
 - 2. Previously held the same or similar position,
 - 3. Been previously trained to do the work, or
- B. In the determination of the Employer could satisfactorily perform the work and could be trained within a reasonable amount of time.

- C. Notices of recall shall be sent by certified or registered mail to the last known address as shown on the Employer's records. The recall notice shall state the time and date on which the bargaining unit member is to report back to work. It shall be the bargaining unit member's responsibility to keep the Employer notified as to their current mailing address.
- D. A recalled bargaining unit member shall be given five (5) workdays from receipt of notice, to return to work, unless they are otherwise employed and must give their other employer notice of resignation. In this event, the Employer will fill the position on a temporary basis until the recalled bargaining unit member can report for work providing the bargaining unit member reports within twelve (12) workdays from receipt of the original notice of recall. The Employer may extend these time limits at its discretion.
- E. Bargaining unit members recalled to a position for which they are qualified, with equivalent hours of work as previously held, are obligated to take said work. A bargaining unit member who declines recall to an equivalent work hour position, for which they are qualified, shall forfeit their seniority rights. Bargaining unit members on layoff shall accrue seniority during the period of such layoff. Acceptance or refusal of recall to a position which is lower in pay and/or benefits than the position from which the bargaining unit member was laid-off shall not affect their rights to recall to an equivalent position.
- F. Laid-off bargaining unit members shall be retained on the District's recall list for a period of three (3) calendar years from the time of layoff, after which they shall no longer have any contractual right to recall.

16.5 Reduction in Hours

When a bargaining unit member suffers a twenty-five (25) percent loss of weekly work due to a reduction of hours in their position, the bargaining unit member shall be able to displace the least senior bargaining unit member in their classification provided they are qualified to do the work. The displacement of the least senior bargaining unit member's hours of work shall be equal to or fewer than the number of hours of work the more senior bargaining unit member lost. However, the Administration shall retain the right to veto any displacement if it is deemed detrimental to the educational integrity of the student.

16.6 Student Workers

In no event will student workers displace or replace bargaining unit members who are on layoff.

ARTICLE 17 SICK LEAVE

17.1 Sick Leave

At the beginning of each work year, each school year bargaining unit member shall be credited with seven (7) days of sick leave, the unused portion of which shall accumulate from year to year to ninety (90) days. If the employee does not complete the year of work, only that portion of the days earned will be granted. Any additional leave that was used, which was not earned, will be deducted from the employee's last paycheck. Sick leave may be taken in one (1) hour increments.

Each semester, bargaining unit members shall receive the following attendance bonus based on their total use during the semester of sick, personal, and unpaid leave:

Zero Days Used: \$250 **0.1-1.0 Days Used:** \$200 **1.1-2.0 Days Used:** \$150

The attendance incentive will start the following semester for employees hired after the start of the school year and will not be available for employees who terminate their employment prior to the end of a given semester. Payment for first semester shall be made on the last payroll in January and for the second semester on the last payroll in June.

17.2 Employment-Related Injury

Absence due to injury or illness incurred in the course of the bargaining unit member's employment shall not be charged against the bargaining member's sick leave days. The Employer shall pay to such bargaining unit member the difference between their salary and all benefits received under the Michigan Worker's Compensation Act for the first seven days. Upon return from worker's compensation, the employee shall be guaranteed their former position or a comparable position within the classification of their original position if the former position or a comparable position within the classification of their original position in longer exists, provided that their seniority is sufficient to obtain such position.

17.3 Sick Leave Usage

Sick leave may be taken by a bargaining unit member for the following reasons and subject to the following conditions:

- A. A bargaining unit member's or their family member's mental or physical illness, injury, health condition and medical diagnosis, care, or treatment, or preventative medical care.
- B. If the bargaining unit member or an eligible family member is a victim of domestic violence or sexual assault; for medical care or psychological or other counseling for physical or psychological injury or disability; to obtain services from a victim services organization; to relocate due to domestic violence or sexual assault; to obtain legal services; and/or to participate in any civil or criminal proceedings related to or result from the domestic violence or sexual assault.
- C. For a meeting at the child's school or place of care related to the child's health or disability or the effects of domestic violence or sexual assault on the child.
- D. For closure of the District by order of a public official due to a public health emergency or to provide care for a child whose school or place of care has been closed due to a public health emergency.
- E. If health authorities or a health care provider have determined that the bargaining unit member or their family member's presence in the community would jeopardize the health of others because of their exposure to a communicable disease, regardless of whether they have contracted the communicable disease.
- F. Family Members Defined. The term "family member" includes:
 - 1. A biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild or legal ward, a child of a domestic partner or a child to whom the employee stands in loco parentis.
 - A biological parent, foster parent, stepparent, or adoptive parent or a legal guardian of an employee or an employee's spouse or domestic partner or a person who stood in loco parentis when the employee was a minor child.
 - 3. A person to whom the employee is legally married under the laws of any state or a domestic partner.
 - 4. A grandparent or grandchild.

- 5. A biological, foster or adopted sibling.
- 6. Any other individual related by blood or affinity whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship.
- G. Use of Sick Leave: Bargaining unit member's use of sick leave shall be apportioned based on number of hours worked in the employee's regularly scheduled duty day.
- H. If the District in its discretion suspects an employee may be abusing their sick leave, the Employer reserves the right to require substantiation (including, but not limited to a physician's statement) prior to the payment of sick leave.
- 1. For sick leave requests exceeding three (3) consecutive days, the District may require the bargaining unit member to provide reasonable documentation that the earned sick time has been used for a permissible purpose. Upon request, the employee must provide documentation in a timely manner. The District-required documentation should not include details about the illness or specifics of the violence. The District shall not delay the start of the leave due to a failure to receive documentation.
- J. An employee who willfully abuses, misrepresents, or otherwise violates use of sick leave, may be subject to disciplinary action, such as loss of accumulated sick leave, docking of pay, or in cases of severe or repeated violation, dismissal.
- K. An employee unable to report to work because of illness or emergency shall call their immediate supervisor or a designated person as arrange in the beginning of the year by the immediate supervisor. It shall be the responsibility of the District to arrange for a substitute and to determine if a substitute is needed.

17.4 Child Care Leave

An employee may request a childcare leave not to exceed three (3) consecutive months; inclusive of absence covered by compensable leave and sick leave benefits. During the leave, the employee's position shall not be considered vacant, and the employee shall be entitled to return to the position upon completion of the leave.

If the duration of the childcare leave exceeds the number of days the employee is eligible for sick leave by reason of disability, the remainder of the childcare leave shall be unpaid leave. If the employee exhausts their sick leave attributable to the disability, prior to the end of the childcare leave, then the remainder of the leave shall be unpaid leave.

17.5 Bereavement Leave

Bargaining unit members shall be granted up to five (5) days bereavement leave for the death of a family member. Family member shall be defined as spouse, child, parents, brother, sister, grandparents, parents-in-law, son-in-law and daughter-in-law, grandchildren, stepchild, step-parents, step-brother, step-sister, step-grandparents, step-grandchildren, grandparents-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law or other first generation relative or first generation relative of a spouse. Additional special circumstances may be approved by the administration.

17.6 Terminal Leave

Provided written notice of retirement is submitted by the bargaining unit member to the Superintendent on or before March 1 of the school year of retirement, upon retirement (as defined by the Michigan School Employees Retirement System) employees who have accumulated sick leave will be paid one-half (1/2) a day's pay; up to sixty (60) days.

ARTICLE 18 OTHER PAID LEAVES

18.1 Business Leave

- A. At the beginning of every contract year, each bargaining unit member shall be credited with five (5) days to be used for the bargaining unit member's personal business in addition to sick leave. Business leave may be taken in one (1) hour increments.
- B. Business leaves shall be used only in situations of urgency; and for the purpose of conducting business, which is difficult to transact on weekends, after school hours or during recess periods. It is understood that business leave may also be used for attendance at funerals. Business leaves will not be granted for vacations, or the extending of a scheduled break period.
- C. A bargaining unit member planning to use a personal business day, or days, shall notify their immediate supervisor through the district's absence management program at least three (3) days in advance, except in cases of emergency. The reasons for the leave shall be briefly stated on the request notice, unless such reasons are extremely confidential.
- D. Business leave shall not accumulate from year to year, provided, however, unused personal business days shall accumulate as sick leave.
- E. Business leave days shall not be taken two (2) days prior to a vacation period or two (2) days after a vacation period. An employee may make a written request to the Superintendent for an exception to this policy. The granting of such an exception is in the sole discretion of the Superintendent. The employee shall be notified in writing of the Superintendent's decision.

18.2 Judicial Leave

Any bargaining unit member called for (a) jury duty, or (b) who is subpoenaed to testify as a witness on behalf of the District during work hours in any school-related judicial or administrative matter or (c) who is requested to testify as a witness during an arbitration or fact-finding proceeding, shall be paid their full compensation and benefits for such time. Any compensation received by the bargaining unit member, excluding mileage, shall be turned over to the District.

ARTICLE 19 UNPAID LEAVES

19.1 Leaves of Absence

Leaves of absence without pay for up to one (1) year in duration may, in the sole discretion of the Board, be granted to bargaining unit members upon written request. A request for a leave of absence shall include the reason for the leave, along with anticipated beginning and ending dates of the leave.

19.2 Return from Leave

A bargaining unit member returning from a leave of absence of one year or less shall be reinstated to the same or similar position they held when the leave began if the position exists, or if not, to a comparable position in the same classification, provided the member's seniority in that classification is sufficient to displace another employee.

19.3 Extensions

An extension past the one (1) year may be granted, in the sole discretion of the Board, upon written request of the bargaining unit member. The request shall include the reason for the extension and the anticipated date of return. Bargaining unit members granted extension shall return to the first vacant position in their classification for which they are qualified. Bargaining unit members returning from leave less than one year shall be reinstated to the same or similar position.

19.4 Unpaid Leaves

Unpaid leaves of absence may be granted by the board under the auspices of Article 19.1 for the following purposes:

A. **Public Service**

A leave of absence not to exceed one (1) year may be granted for the purpose of campaigning for, and/or serving in, a public office. During such leave, seniority, and experience (pay) credit shall neither accrue nor be lost.

B. **Educational**

A leave of absence may be granted for the purpose of permitting the bargaining unit member to continue their education. The bargaining unit member will provide to the District their anticipated course of study and the length of leave time needed. During such leave, seniority, and experience (pay) credit shall neither accrue nor be lost.

C. Short Term Leave

A leave up to one month may be granted in the sole discretion of the Superintendent. Benefits and seniority shall remain in effect for the duration of the leave. In determining whether to grant such leave requests, the Superintendent shall specifically determine the following:

- 1. Any negative impact on the District operations, which may be caused by the employee's absence.
- 2. The availability of substitute or replacement personnel with the appropriate skills.
- 3. The possible long-term benefit to the District from the employee's activities on leave.
- 4. Extended leaves shall generally not be granted under this provision for recreational activities, job seeking, hunting/fishing or other similar activities.
- 5. Any other factors which may be relevant to any particular request.

19.5 Family Medical Leave

- A. A leave of absence shall be granted to any bargaining unit member for any of the following purposes, subject to the provisions of the FMLA:
 - 1. For the birth of a son or daughter and to care for the newborn child:
 - For placement with the employee of a son or daughter for adoption or foster care;

- 3. To care for the employee's spouse, son, daughter or parent with a serious health condition;
- 4. Because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of the employee's job.

Provided, however, that any claims by employers to leave or benefit privileges under Article 19.5 shall not be eligible to appeal such claims to arbitration or to pursue such claims as a cause of action in state or federal court for breach of contract, but all such claims must be appealed solely as statutory claims under the FMLA and pursuant to the appeal procedures established in the FMLA and the interpretive regulations issued by the federal Department of Labor.

B. The parties agree that the use of paid sick leave, personal leave, vacation leave, or any combination thereof, for the purpose of extending FMLA benefits for all or part of the duration of the leave shall be dealt with on a case-by-case basis, and such extension shall be in the sole discretion of the Board.

ARTICLE 20 HOLIDAYS

20.1 Holidays

All bargaining unit members shall have the following days off with pay: Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Eve, Christmas Day, New Year's Eve, New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day, President's Day and Memorial Day. Pay shall be for the regularly scheduled hours of each bargaining unit member. Should the day off fall on a Saturday or Sunday, either Friday or Monday shall replace that day.

ARTICLE 21 BARGAINING UNIT MEMBER EVALUATIONS

21.1 Evaluation Schedule

All bargaining unit members shall receive a written evaluation. The Administration will conduct evaluations on an annual basis for each bargaining unit member. However, if a member has received a rating of "Effective" or higher for three consecutive years while serving in the same position, the Administration may choose to evaluate that individual every other year.

21.2 Observation

All formal monitoring or observation of the work of each bargaining unit member shall be conducted in person and with the full knowledge of the bargaining unit member. Formal observations shall be for periods of time that accurately sample the bargaining unit member's work.

Evaluations may also incorporate relevant information based on informal observations (conduct occurring in the presence or within sight or earshot of the evaluator during the performance of duty other than during a "formal" observation session), and or/written anecdotal reports from reliable third-party witnesses to relevant conduct, provided that the employee is given an opportunity to review and respond to such a written report and that the report is not anonymous.

Each bargaining unit member, upon their employment or at the beginning of the work year, whichever is later, shall be apprised of the specific criteria upon which they will be evaluated. The criteria shall primarily focus on the actual performance of the job duties as assigned and shall take into consideration the employee's job description. Work outside of the bargaining unit member's normally assigned duties shall not be evaluated. Evaluations shall be conducted by the bargaining unit member's immediate supervisor, or such other administrator as may be designated by the Superintendent of Schools.

21.3 Written Evaluations

All evaluations shall be reduced to writing with a copy given to the bargaining unit member and a copy placed in the employee's personnel file. If the bargaining unit member disagrees with the evaluation, they may submit a written response, which shall be attached to the file copy of the evaluation in question.

If a supervisor believes a bargaining unit member is doing unacceptable work, the reasons therefore shall be set forth in specific written terms. Once the issue(s) are identified, the Evaluator will seek suggestions for improvement from the Employee. At a subsequent meeting between the bargaining unit member and the supervisor, the employee shall be provided with a written improvement plan which shall identify the ways in which the bargaining unit member is to improve, the assistance to be given by the Employer towards that improvement, and a timeline for implementation and completion of the improvement plan. The plan shall provide for meetings at designated intervals to discuss progress, provide feedback, and to clarify any questions about the plan. At the option of the bargaining unit member, another bargaining unit member may be present at any meetings between the bargaining unit member and their supervisor regarding the improvement plan, including the initial meeting. The supervisor and the bargaining unit member shall subsequently meet to confirm whether satisfactory improvement has been achieved.

21.4 Evaluation Conferences

Following each formal evaluation, which shall include a conference with the evaluator, the bargaining unit member shall sign and be given a copy of the evaluation report prepared by the evaluator. In no case shall the bargaining unit member's signature be construed to mean that they necessarily agree with the contents of the evaluation. A bargaining unit member may submit additional comments to the written evaluation if they so desire. All written evaluations are to be placed in the bargaining unit member's personnel file.

At the completion of the probationary period, an evaluation of the bargaining unit member's work shall be completed, following the procedures of this provision.

21.5 Termination of Employment

In the event a bargaining unit member is not continued in employment, the Employer will advise the bargaining unit member of the specific reasons therefore in writing, with a copy to the Association.

21.6 Conclusion

The written evaluation of employees and the criteria used are not subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures. It is understood, however, that any discipline of a non-probationary bargaining unit member, which is brought to rise due to an adverse evaluation is subject to the grievance procedure under the standards set forth in Article 7 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 22 JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Job descriptions will be developed for each classification and shall be provided in writing to each DESPA member at the beginning of each year and no later than the end of the second week of school or within one week of the start date for a new employee if the position is filled after the school year begins. Such job descriptions shall be developed by the Employer, with input from the Association's negotiations team. The job descriptions will include at a minimum: job title and description, minimum requirements, and a specific statement of required tasks and responsibilities.

ARTICLE 23 DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2025 and shall continue in effect until June 30, 2027. Future bargaining about retroactive application and payment of wages and benefits, if any, shall be consistent with MCL 423.215b and shall include economic impact of MCL 423.215b on employee wages. To the extent permitted by law, any resulting agreement on retroactivity shall be implemented as soon as possible after ratification, unless the parties agree otherwise.

ASSOCIATION	EMPLOYER	
By President	By President	
	By Secretary	
Date:	Date:	

APPENDIX A

Wage Schedules

Wages for 2025-2026 & 2026-2027

- 1. An eligible employee's rate of pay shall change on the employee's anniversary date.
- 2. Promotion pay is based on next highest pay rate in the employee's new position classification, which is higher than the employee's pay rate in their former position.
- 3. If an employee has substituted continuously in a position for one (1) year, the employee's pay shall begin at the second year pay schedule if hired into that position.

2025-2026 DESPA Wage Schedule

Paraprofessionals	YEAR 1	YEARS 2-3	YEARS 4-7	YEAR 8+
Class 1	\$16.81	\$1 <i>7.</i> 48	\$18.80	\$19.59
Class 2	\$14.86	\$15.52	\$16.15	\$16.93

2026-2027 DESPA Wage Schedule

There shall be a wage reopener for the 2026-2027 school year to determine the wage increase the bargaining unit shall receive. Any other issues shall be at the mutual agreement of the parties.

Credits may be given for up to five (5) years of experience at the Superintendent's discretion. Employees with 60 semester hours of credit from an accredited college or university shall be given an additional three (3) percent on the above wage schedule. Employees with a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university of credit shall be given an additional six (6) percent on the above schedule. GSRP Associate Teachers shall receive the additional six (6) percent due to the additional certifications required for the position. Current employees must submit a transcript prior to the beginning of the school year to receive this additional money. However, wage enhancement pursuant to this section apply only, if in the discretion of the Superintendent, the credit hours are (1) in the field of education and/or (2) specifically related to the special needs of the position.

Longevity payments will be given to DESPA members based on the number of years they have served in the district, as per the schedule below. (Note: the member must have an Effective evaluation to qualify)

8-10 years: \$600
11-15: \$850
16-20: \$1100
21+: \$1600

Referrals

Bargaining unit members who refer individuals for employment shall earn a bonus of \$250 with \$125 being paid once the new bargaining unit member has been hired and has successfully completed 90 days of employment within the district, and the remaining \$125 being paid once the new bargaining unit member has successfully completed 180 days of employment within the district.

Field Trips

In the event that an aide is required to attend a field trip with a student, the district agrees to pay all fees related to the event.

Overnight Trips

In the event a bargaining unit member is required to attend an overnight field trip, the bargaining unit member shall be paid for all time spent with student(s) which is deemed required by their supervisor.

Work performed outside normal working hours

Employees may be asked to work outside normal hours. Employees who perform work outside their normal working hours shall be paid at their regular rate of pay or may take the time as compensatory time. Any bargaining unit member who is compelled to work outside their normal hours cannot be required to take compensatory time.

APPENDIX B

Dansville Educational Support Professionals Association

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM

Grieva	nce #	Distribution of Form:	Superintendent Supervisor Association Grievant	
<u>Building</u>	<u>Assignment</u>	Name of Grievant	<u></u>	Date Filed
STEP 1 A. B.	Date Cause of Grievance Occi 1. Article/Section Violated (Lis	urred: t each section separately):		
	2. Statement of Grievance:			
	3. Relief Sought:			
		Signature of Grievant or Association		Date

If additional space is needed for any Section, attach an additional sheet. (continued on reverse side)

Dansville Education Support Professionals Association July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2027

GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM (continued)

C.	Disposition of Supervisor:		
		Signature of Supervisor	Date
D.	Disposition of Grievant and/	or Association:	
		Signature(s) Grievant and/or Association	Date
A. Do	, ·	or Designee:signee:	
		Signature of Superintendent or Designee	Date
C. Di	sposition of Association:		
		Signature of Association President	Date
A. Do		on or Designee:	
		Signature of Board of Education Designee	Date
C. Di:	sposition of Association:		
		Signature of Association President	Date
	4 Proceed to Arbitration ture of President	Date	

APPENDIX C

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

Between
The Dansville Schools Board of Education
And
The Dansville Education Support Professionals Association

Subject: Clarification of 2025-2027 Master Agreement, Article 8 (Grievance Procedure)

The Dansville Schools Board of Education ("Board") and the Dansville Education Support Professionals Association ("Association") (collectively, "the Parties") hereby enter into this Letter of Agreement (LOA) to clarify and amend specific language within Article 8 (Grievance Procedure) of the 2025-2027 Master Agreement.

The Parties agree that the following language shall supersede and replace the existing language for Section D (Formal Level 3) and Section E (Formal Level 4) of the Article 8 Grievance Procedure, effective upon the date of its full execution.

ARTICLE 8: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Formal Level 3: If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 2 or if no written decision has been made within ten (10) working days after the conclusion of the Level 2 grievance meeting, the Association may transmit the grievance to the Board President, who is in charge of finalizing the Board meeting agenda, not more than ten (10) working days after receipt of the Level 2 grievance response. Within one of the next two regularly scheduled Board meetings after submission of the grievance to the Board, a grievance hearing shall be held. Within one (1) month of the hearing of the grievance, the Board shall render its decision in writing with copies to the Association and the grievant(s). The Board may hold future hearings therein, may designate one (1) or more of its members to hold future hearings therein, or otherwise investigate the grievance. However, in no event, except with express written consent of the Association, shall final determination of the grievance be made by the Board more than one (1) month after the initial hearing.

Formal Level 4: If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level 3 or if no disposition has been made within the period provided above, if the Association decides to pursue the matter further, it shall, within twenty (20) working days from the date of the Board's Formal Level 3 response, meet with the Board President and Superintendent for the purpose of attempting to settle the grievance before proceeding to arbitration, except when there is a continuing back pay liability, in which case the parties shall meet within ten (10) working days of the Board's Formal Level 3 response. If, after such meeting, the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance, it may, within fifteen (15) working days of the Formal Level 4 meeting, submit the grievance to binding arbitration in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Demand for Arbitration shall include a copy of the grievance, and shall identify which, if any, of the aspects of the grievance are not intended to be appealed to arbitration. The Demand for Arbitration shall also include specific statements of the reasons why the Association believes that the rationale articulated in the Board's written disposition (as to each contract violation allegation in the grievance for which the Board has articulated a rationale for denial) is not correct or proper. Failure to timely file a demand for arbitration shall constitute a complete and permanent bar to arbitration or other appeal of the Board's disposition and shall render the Level 3 disposition final and binding. The date of filing shall be defined as the date of the email correspondence in which the filing is sent to the American Arbitration Association.

This Letter of Agreement shall be incorporated into and made a part of the 2025-2027 Master Agreement. All other sections and provisions of the Master Agreement and Article 8 not specifically amended by this Letter (including subsections 1-6 of Article 8.2.E) shall remain in full force and effect.

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY:	
FOR THE DANSVILLE SCHOOLS BOARD OF EDUC	ATION:
Michal B. Kapp. Mike Kapp, Board President	12-01-2025 Date
1	
FOR THE DANSVILLE EDUCATION SUPPORT PRO	FESSIONALS ASSOCIATION:
Saw Andrews	11/6/25
Sara Andrews, Association President	Date / /